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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

NICOLE COGDELL, et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

THE WET SEAL, INC., et al., 

Defendants. 

Case No.: SACV 12-01138 AG (ANx) 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FOR DAMAGES: 42 U.S.C. § 1981; 
TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS 
ACT OF 1964 
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Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 

situated for race discrimination in employment by The Wet Seal, Inc., The Wet Seal 

Retail, Inc., Wet Seal GC, Inc., and Wet Seal GC, LLC (collectively, "WET 

SEAL"), and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action challenges WET SEAL's policy and practice of 

discriminating against African-American store management employees at Wet Seal 

and Arden B. stores from at least 2008 to the present, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

1981 and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.c. § 2000e et seq.). 

This policy was adopted by the most senior executives of the company, and resulted 

in the targeting of African-American employees for termination because of their 

race and color, and a denial of pay and promotions for African Americans on the 

same basis as white store employees. 

2. In addition to strong circumstantial evidence that WET SEAL enforced 

an illegal policy of discrimination, direct evidence in the form of emails and 

testimony of former managers also demonstrates that WET SEAL corporate 

executives at the highest levels instructed managers to terminate African-American 

employees, and to "diversify" their work forces by hiring and promoting white 

employees who fit the WET SEAL "brand image." The EEOC found in its 

Determination of Plaintiff Nicole Cogdell's charge that "corporate managers have 

openly stated they wanted employees who had the 'Armani' look, had blue eyes, 

thin, and blond in order to be profitable." (emphasis in original). In one email, the 

second in command of WET SEAL, the Senior Vice President of Store Operations, 

reporting on a series of store visits, stated to the Vice President of Store Operations 

and a district manager that, "African American dominate - huge issue." High-level 

WET SEAL corporate executives also instructed a district manager to "clean the 

entire store out" by firing all African-American employees at one or more stores, 

and they threatened to terminate Store Managers if they did not staff more white 

- 1 -
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO.: SACV 12-01138 AG (ANx) 



Case 8:12-cv-01138-AG-AN   Document 49   Filed 01/09/13   Page 3 of 50   Page ID #:347o ( ~) 

1 employees than African-American employees in their stores. 

2 3. Plaintiffs bring this case as a class action on behalf of current and 

3 former WET SEAL store management employees and seek back pay, general 

4 damages, and punitive damages. 

5 PARTIES 

6 4. Plaintiff Nicole Cogdell is an African-American woman who was 

7 formerly employed by WET SEAL at its Springfield, Pennsylvania and King of 

8 Prussia, Pennsylvania stores. She is a resident of Delaware County, Pennsylvania. 

9 5. PlaintiffKai Hawkins is an African-American woman who was 

10 formerly employed at WET SEAL stores in California, Pennsylvania and New 

11 Jersey, and was last employed at the Cherry Hill, New Jersey store. She is a 

12 resident of Delaware County, Pennsylvania. 

13 6. Plaintiff Myriam Saint-Hilaire is an African-American woman who 

14 was formerly employed by WET SEAL at its King of Prussia store. She is a 

15 resident of Delaware County, Pennsylvania. 

16 7. Plaintiff Michelle Guider is an African-American woman who was 

17 formerly employed by WET SEAL at its Arden B. store in Durham, North 

18 Carolina. She is a resident of Wake County, North Carolina. 

19 8. Defendant The Wet Seal, Inc. is a Delaware corporation headquartered 

20 in Foothill Ranch, Orange County, California. 

21 9. Defendant The Wet Seal Retail, Inc. is a subsidiary of The Wet Seal, 

22 Inc. and is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Foothill Ranch, Orange 

23 County, California. 

24 10. Defendant Wet Seal GC, Inc. is a subsidiary of The Wet Seal, Inc. and 

25 is a Virginia corporation headquartered in Foothill Ranch, Orange County, 

26 California. 

27 11. Defendant Wet Seal GC, LLC is a subsidiary of The Wet Seal, Inc. 

28 and is a Virginia limited liability company headquartered in Foothill Ranch, Orange 
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1 County, California. 

2 12. Defendants The Wet Seal, Inc., The Wet Seal Retail, Inc., Wet Seal 

3 GC, Inc., and Wet Seal GC, LLC are collectively referred to as "WET SEAL." 

4 13. WET SEAL sells women's clothing and accessories at its 

5 approximately 550 stores under the Wet Seal and Arden B. store names 

6 (collectively referred to as "WET SEAL stores"). It employs over 7,000 

7 employees, including 2,000 full-time employees. 

8 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

9 14. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of 

10 Civil Procedure on behalf of current and former African-American store 

11 management level employees of WET SEAL. "Store management level" 

12 employees include current and former Assistant Managers, Co-Managers, and Store 

13 Managers of WET SEAL. 

14 15. The members of the class are sufficiently numerous that joinder of all 

15 members is impracticable. On information and belief, the class includes over 250 

16 class members. 

17 16. There are questions of law and fact common to the class, and these 

18 questions predominate over individual questions. Such questions include, among 

19 others: (1) whether WET SEAL has a general policy of discrimination with regard 

20 to pay, promotion, and termination of African-American store management level 

21 employees; (2) whether WET SEAL has a pattern or practice of discrimination with 

22 regard to pay, promotion, and termination of African-American store management 

23 level employees; and (3) whether punitive damages are warranted. 

24 17. The claims alleged by Plaintiffs are typical of the claims ofthe class. 

25 All Plaintiffs were African-American store management level employees who have 

26 been harmed by WET SEAL's discriminatory policies and practices. 

27 18. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class. 

28 19. If the class is certified, Plaintiffs will provide the "best notice 
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1 practicable under the circumstances" to the class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

2 23(b)( c )(2)(B), including but not limited to mail, posting, and distribution to current 

3 employees. 

4 20. Class certification is appropriate pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) 

5 because common questions of fact and law predominate over any questions 

6 affecting only individual members of the class, and because a class action is 

7 superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

8 litigation. The members of the class have been damaged and are entitled to 

9 recovery as a result of WET SEAL's common and unfair discriminatory personnel 

10 policies and practices. 

11 21. Particular issue certification of class liability is also appropriate under 

12 Rule 23(c)(4) because such claims present only common issues, the resolution of 

13 which would benefit the parties and serve judicial economy. 

14 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

15 22. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

16 1331 and 1343. 

17 23. This Court has personal jurisdiction over this action because WET 

18 SEAL corporate headquarters are located in Foothill Ranch, California, which is in 

19 Orange County, and WET SEAL does business in stores throughout this district and 

20 the State of California. 

21 24. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), 

22 because WET SEAL's headquarters are located in this District and WET SEAL 

23 maintains branches throughout California and this District, and is subject to 

24 personal jurisdiction in this District. Moreover, a substantial part of the events, 

25 acts, and omissions giving rise to the claims of Plaintiffs and the proposed class 

26 occurred in this District. 

27 WET SEAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

28 25. Each WET SEAL store employs Sales Associates, Assistant Managers, 
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1 and Store Managers. Larger stores also have a Co-Manager, an intermediate 

2 position between Assistant Manager and Store Manager. Store Managers report to 

3 a District Manager, who typically supervises ten to twelve stores. District 

4 Managers report to Regional Managers. On information and belief there are 

5 currently four Regional Managers for WET SEAL, and during the relevant time 

6 period, both Wet Seal and Arden B. stores moved from a separate reporting 

7 structure to reporting to the same District and Regional Managers, and WET SEAL 

8 store management employees have been promoted between Wet Seal and Arden B. 

9 stores. Regional Managers report to the Vice President of Store Operations, who in 

10 tum reports to the Senior Vice President of Store Operations, who reports directly 

11 to the CEO of WET SEAL. 

12 26. While a Store Manager may hire Sales Associates within limited pay 

13 ranges, all hiring of such personnel at rates above these pay ranges must be 

14 approved by district and higher level management. On occasion, Store Managers 

15 are directed or required by higher level managers, to hire, or not hire, specific 

16 individuals for sales positions. All promotions to store management level positions 

17 must be approved by District and Regional Managers. All store management pay 

18 must be approved by District and Regional Managers, and, if pay exceeds company 

19 pay ranges, the pay must be approved by the Vice President of Store Operations. 

20 All terminations of store employees must be approved by District and Regional 

21 Managers and the corporate Human Resources Department. 

22 27. WET SEAL has no formal promotion policy or application procedure 

23 for store management positions it fills internally, nor does it post such openings. 

24 Other than minimal experience and age requirements, it has no written criteria to 

25 determine which employees should be promoted. Store management pay is 

26 supposed to be based on a pay scale tied to the size and profitability of each store. 

27 In fact, frequent exceptions to this scale are granted by senior management. There 

28 are no written criteria that guide the granting of such exceptions. 
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1 28. Although WET SEAL has a written non-discrimination policy, this 

2 policy is neither enforced nor monitored for compliance. On information and 

3 belief, WET SEAL does not collect or compile accurate data, including the race and 

4 ethnicity of applicants for hire and employees regarding hiring, pay, promotions, or 

5 terminations. On information and belief, for many years WET SEAL has not 

6 prepared and filed accurate EEO-1 reports with the United States Equal 

7 Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") showing the racial and ethnic 

8 demographics of its workforce as required by federal equal employment 

9 regulations. 

10 29. WET SEAL has a general policy and practice of discriminating against 

11 its nonwhite employees, and particularly its African-American employees. This 

12 policy and practice is manifested in the following ways: 

13 a. Failing and refusing to promote African-American store 

14 employees to store management positions on the same basis as white 

15 employees are promoted; 

16 b. Failing to pay African-American store management employees 

17 at the same rates as similarly-situated white employees; 

18 c. Limiting promotion opportunities for African-American 

19 employees at stores with a significant white clientele; 

20 d. Insisting on a "brand" or "image" of its employees that 

21 predominantly reflects a white image, an image reinforced by WET SEAL's 

22 advertising to the general public; 

23 e. Holding African-American store management employees to 

24 higher performance standards than white store management employees; 

25 f. Terminating African-American store management employees on 

26 the basis of their race and not performance; and 

27 g. Failing and refusing to take adequate steps to eliminate the 

28 effects of its past discriminatory practices. 
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1 30. The above-listed discriminatory policies and practices are and have 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

been devised, implemented, and enforced by a small group of the most senior 

corporate managers, including WET SEAL's President and CEO, Senior Vice 

President of Store Operations, Vice President of Store Operations, and corporate 

Human Resources executives. These senior officials have enforced these policies 

through store visits, management meetings, and electronic and telephonic 

communications to lower level management employees. They have fired 

management employees who opposed these policies, and ignored or rejected 

recommendations by lower level managers to hire, pay, and promote African­

American employees on the same basis as white employees. They have imposed 

their own management and sales employee selections in stores. Examples of the 

implementation of this general policy and practice of discrimination include: 

a. Senior Vice President of Store Operations Barbara Bachman 

("Bachman") instructed a District Manager to "clean the entire store out" by 

firing all African-American store management employees in or around 

August 2008: 

b. After Bachman conducted a surprise store visit and realized that 

the Store Manager she had previously approved was African-American, she 

ordered the District Manager to terminate or demote the African-American 

Store Manager, and replace her with a white manager. She threatened to 

terminate the District Manager if she did not terminate African-American 

employees, and ordered her to terminate Store Managers that did not 

"diversify" (i.e., increase the number of white employees in) their store work 

force; 

c. Bachman instructed store management personnel of the WET 

SEAL store at the King of Prussia Mall ("King of Prussia store") to hire more 

employees who looked like a particular blond white sales associate; 

d. On March 3, 2009, Bachman sent an email to a District 
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1 Manager, copying Vice President of Store Operations Barbara Harris 

2 ("Harris"), describing store visits she had conducted of twenty stores in the 

3 Maryland and Philadelphia region. Bachman wrote: "Global Issues ... 

4 Store teams - need diversity/African American dominate - huge issue." A 

5 true and correct copy of this email is attached as Exhibit 1 and incorporated 

6 by reference; 

7 e. Bachman told a District Manager that the Regional Manager 

8 must have "lost her mind" putting a black person in charge of a particular 

9 store. She instructed managers to "lighten up" their stores (i.e., terminate 

10 African-American and hire white employees). She informed a Regional 

11 Manager that there were "way too many" African-American store employees 

12 in the Maryland market; 

13 f. Bachman targeted stores with primarily African-American 

14 employees to be "cleaned up" as an urgent priority, but did not target 

15 similarly-situated stores with mostly non-minority employees with 

16 comparable performance; 

17 g. Director of Human Resources Patricia Sprowell made racially 

18 derogatory comments about female African-American employees to a newly 

19 hired Regional Manager, saying that such employees will get pregnant "if 

20 they touch the counter." She also stated that African-American employees 

21 were difficult to manage. On another occasion she instructed a Regional 

22 Manager to "figure out a way to get rid" of two African-American employees 

23 who had filed race discrimination complaints with the EEOC; 

24 h. President and CEO Ed Thomas ("Thomas"), Senior Vice 

25 President Bachman, and Vice President Harris frequently made store visits, 

26 during or after which they instructed managers to "diversify" the work forces 

27 in stores with largely African-American employees and to hire and promote 

28 white employees who fit the "brand image." They made no such requests 
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1 regarding stores that were staffed predominantly by white employees; and 

2 1. Vice President of Store Operations Harris required a Regional 

3 Manager to provide photographs of her District Managers in a portfolio 

4 which was used to discuss and evaluate them as candidates for advancement 

5 within the company. 

6 31. WET SEAL has relied on advertising that predominantly features 

7 white models as a means of projecting a "brand image," which was understood in 

8 the company to mean white females. 

9 32. In order to protect African-American employees from discrimination, 

10 managers have taken steps to ensure that African-American employees were not 

11 working in the store front when a high level corporate executive made a store visit 

12 by, for example, sending African-American employees to the back of the store or 

13 on a lunch break when a visit by a corporate official was expected. 

14 33. On information and belief, since 2008, senior management positions, 

15 including senior corporate managers, Regional Managers, and District Managers, 

16 have been held almost exclusively by white employees. 

17 34. On information and belief, African-American store management level 

18 employees are and have been paid less on average than similarly-situated white 

19 employees, promoted at a lower rate and to less desirable stores, and fired at a 

20 higher rate than white employees. 

21 PLAINTIFF COGDELL 

22 35. Plaintiff Nicole Cogdell ("Cogdell") was hired by WET SEAL on 

23 November 20,2008 as Store Manager for the WET SEAL retail store in the 

24 Springfield Mall, Springfield, Pennsylvania ("Springfield Mall store"). Cogdell 

25 had substantial prior retail management experience, including prior employment as 

26 a Store Manager at WET SEAL approximately ten years earlier. 

27 36. Prior to being hired in 2008, Cogdell was interviewed in person by the 

28 WET SEAL Philadelphia District Manager and by telephone by the WET SEAL 
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1 Regional Manager assigned to the Northeast Region, Ms. Davey ("Davey"). 

2 37. While Cogdell was the Store Manager for the Springfield Mall store, 

3 the objective and subjective performance metrics for that store improved 

4 substantially, including: 
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a. Increased retail sales; 

b. Decreased theft from the store; and 

c. Significantly improved cleanliness and orderliness of the store. 

38. At or around the same time, the King of Prussia store was experiencing 

significant problems in the following areas: 

a. Sales below projective levels; 

b. Significant shrinkage; and 

c. Significant reported issues regarding cleanliness and 

disorganization. 

39. The Philadelphia District Manager recommended Cogdell for Store 

Manager at the King of Prussia store, on or around January 2009. Because the 

King of Prussia store was a busier store in a more lucrative market, and the pay for 

its Store Manager was higher than that for the Springfield Store Manager, this move 

was a promotion for Cogdell. Cogdell was promoted to Store Manager at the King 

of Prussia store in January 2009. On information and belief, at the time this 

promotion was approved, WET SEAL senior management was not aware that 

Cogdell was African-American. 

40. Under Cogdell's direction, the King of Prussia store improved 

substantially according to both objective and subjective measures utilized by WET 

SEAL to analyze store performance. On or about Friday, February 27, 2009, at 

mid-day, Bachman visited the King of Prussia store along with the Philadelphia 

District Manager and other corporate officials. 

41. Cogdell and two African-American Sales Associates overheard 

Bachman express dismay to the Philadelphia District Manager that Cogdell was the 
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1 Store Manager, saying she wanted someone with "blond hair and blue eyes." 

2 42. Cogdell reasonably felt betrayed, humiliated, and belittled by what she 

3 felt were Bachman's obviously racist comments and their implications for her own 

4 and her Sales Associates' value to WET SEAL. 

5 43. On information and belief, Bachman also stated to the Philadelphia 

6 District Manager that Regional Manager Davey "must be out of her mind" to have 

7 placed an African American in the position of Store Manager at the King of Prussia 

8 store, and that the African-American Cogdell was not the "brand image" WET 

9 SEAL wanted to project. 

10 44. On information and belief, later that same day (February 27,2009), 

11 Davey called Harris to complain that Bachman was being unfair and was not 

12 looking at the objective measures, which showed substantial improvement in the 

13 store's performance. Harris assured Davey she would speak to Bachman about it. 

14 Bachman terminated Davey from her position as Regional Manager on the 

15 following Monday, March 2,2009. On information and belief, Davey was 

16 terminated in retaliation for placing an African American, Cogdell, in the position 

17 of Store Manager at the King of Prussia WET SEAL store, and for protesting 

18 Bachman's criticisms of Cogdell as unfair. 

19 45. On Tuesday, March 3, 2009, Bachman sent an email to the 

20 Philadelphia District Manager and others which stated that African-American 

21 predominance on store teams was a "huge issue." 

22 46. On Tuesday March 3, 2009, Cogdell was advised by the Philadelphia 

23 District Manager that her employment was being terminated. On information and 

24 belief, Bachman ordered the termination of Cogdell's employment because of 

25 Cogdell's race, and advised the Philadelphia District Manager that if the 

26 Philadelphia District Manager did not terminate Cogdell, the Philadelphia District 

27 Manager would be fired. 

28 47. One day after she received notice of her termination, March 4,2009, 
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1 Cogdell contacted the EEOC and filed a charge of discrimination based on race, in 

2 violation of Title VII and the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act. A copy of this 

3 charge is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and incorporated by reference. 

4 48. On March 5, 2009, Cogdell contacted Barbara Arneklev ("Arneklev"), 

5 WET SEAL's Vice President of Human Relations, to complain about 

6 discriminatory comments and treatment and left a voice message requesting a call. 

7 49. When Arneklev returned Cogdell's call on March 5, 2009, Cogdell 

8 told Arneklev that she was going to her doctor the next day and preferred to 

9 communicate in writing. 

10 50. Cogdell was greatly distressed by these events and suffered loss of 

11 sleep, headaches, and other physical and emotional distress. 

12 51. Cogdell's physician ordered her out of work until March 16,2009. 

13 52. Later on March 5, 2009, the Philadelphia District Manager 

14 communicated via email to Cogdell that there was a "new career opportunity" 

15 which she would secure in written form. Cogdell never received written 

16 confirmation of a "new career opportunity." 

17 53. On information and belief, the "opportunity" the Philadelphia District 

18 Manager was authorized to offer Cogdell was a demotion back to the lower-paying 

19 Springfield Store Manager position. 

20 54. Cogdell viewed managing the Springfield store as both a demotion and 

21 as part of WET SEAL's pattern of segregating African-American Store Managers 

22 by assigning them to stores in mixed or largely African-American markets. 

23 55. On March 6, 2009, Arneklev called Cogdell and told her "not to 

24 worry" about the Springfield store and said that she could work in the King of 

25 Prussia store. 

26 56. Cogdell agreed to work at the King of Prussia store on the condition 

27 and with the understanding that issues of racism in the workplace would be 

28 addressed there before she returned. Cogdell's next day of work at the King of 
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1 Prussia store was on March 16, 2009. 

2 57. Cogdell reasonably expected that while she was out, WET SEAL 

3 would have at least initiated an investigation into racially motivated employment 

4 practices under Bachman, and would have reassured employees that racial 

5 discrimination in any form would not be tolerated by WET SEAL. 

6 58. Instead, Cogdell learned that WET SEAL had taken no steps to 

7 address employee concerns about racial discrimination by management when she 

8 was approached, the same day, by African-American employees of WET SEAL 

9 who had overheard Bachman's comments about Cogdell to the District Manager 

10 and had received no follow up from WET SEAL about discrimination and racism in 

11 the workplace. 

12 59. Cogdell was shocked to learn that WET SEAL had taken no steps to 

13 deal with issues of racism, which were clearly known to WET SEAL before her 

14 termination and return to work. She advised Ameklev by telephone that she would 

15 finish out the day but would not continue to work for WET SEAL because the 

16 company had done nothing to address employees' concerns about racism in the 

17 workplace. Ameklev said she was "sorry" but made no offer to address the 

18 situation. 

19 60. Cogdell believed that employment under these conditions had become 

20 intolerable. A reasonable African-American employee in the same circumstances 

21 would have concluded that continued employment would be intolerable. 

22 Accordingly, Plaintiff Cogdell was constructively terminated by WET SEAL. 

23 61. On or about May 12,2010, Cogdell filed an amended EEOC charge 

24 describing the events that occurred after March 4,2009, when she filed her initial 

25 charge. A copy of the amended charge is attached as Exhibit 3 and incorporated by 

26 reference. 

27 62. The EEOC investigated Cogdell's treatment by Wet Seal and 

28 determined that the evidence established "a violation of Title VII in that Charging 
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1 Party was subjected to a hostile work environment and the conditions were so 

2 intolerable her only recourse was to resign." A copy is attached as Exhibit 4 and 

3 incorporated by reference. The EEOC subsequently issued a Notice of Right to Sue 

4 on this charge, and this First Amended Complaint was timely filed within 90 days 

5 of this Notice. 

6 63. After her constructive discharge by WET SEAL, Cogdell attempted to 

7 find work in retail sales but was unable to secure a position despite her experience 

8 and qualifications. On information and belief, WET SEAL discriminated and 

9 retaliated against Cogdell because of her race and opposition to discriminatory 

10 practices by failing to provide fair references to potential employers. 

11 64. On information and belief, Cogdell was replaced as Store Manager at 

12 the King of Prussia store by a white employee with a poor performance record and 

13 less experience and who was paid more than Cogdell was. 

14 65. On information and belief, WET SEAL routinely promoted white 

15 females to store management and higher positions despite their being unqualified or 

16 poor performers according to WET SEAL's internal standards, including, for 

17 example, promoting the white manager of the Granite Run store to a high profile 

18 store shortly after Bachman described that store as "embarrassing and totally 

19 unacceptable-[one] of the worst stores I have seen in a long time!" (Exhibit 1.) 

20 66. On information and belief, in or around June 2009, Bachman 

21 complimented a Maryland District Manager for her rapid comprehension of the 

22 "WET SEAL look," after Bachman toured a store that had previously been staffed 

23 largely by African Americans but was then staffed entirely or mostly with white 

24 employees. The District Manager understood this comment to refer to the racial 

25 composition of the store employees. 

26 67. Although as Store Manager she was charged with some hiring 

27 responsibilities, at no time during her employment did Cogdell receive any training 

28 regarding equal opportunity policies or procedures at WET SEAL. 
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1 PLAINTIFF HAWKINS 

2 68. PlaintiffKai Hawkins ("Hawkins") first began working for WET 

3 SEAL in or around July 2002 at the Plymouth Meeting Pennsylvania store. She 

4 was promoted to Store Manager within several months. Hawkins was a successful 

5 Store Manager who was particularly good at reducing "inventory shrink" in stores 

6 she managed, and received commendation and a bonus for that success from WET 

7 SEAL. 

8 69. In 2003 and 2004, Hawkins was assigned to manage WET SEAL 

9 stores in the Oak Ridge Mall in San Jose, California, and the Valley Mall in Santa 

10 Clara, California. Both stores had high shrink before Hawkins took over as Store 

11 Manager, and both had much improved numbers under Hawkins. 

12 70. Hawkins returned to the Philadelphia region in 2004. Although she 

13 had been promised a "high profile" store such as King of Prussia, Hawkins was 

14 instead assigned to the Gallery Store at Market East in Philadelphia, a store with a 

15 much larger percentage of minority shoppers. Hawkins asked repeatedly to be 

16 transferred to the King of Prussia store, but was never given the opportunity to 

17 manage this store, despite success in all her assignments. 

18 71. In 2008, Hawkins was transferred to the Cherry Hill New Jersey store, 

19 which has a larger percentage of minority shoppers than King of Prussia. The 

20 Cherry Hill store was visited by Thomas, Harris and Bachman at or around the end 

21 of2008. In or around late February or early March, 2009, Hawkins was told by the 

22 Philadelphia District Manager that the executive management of WET SEAL had 

23 said that if Hawkins did not "diversify" the staff at the Cherry Hill store by hiring 

24 more non-black employees within thirty days, she would be terminated. At that 

25 time, the Cherry Hill store employees were Hawkins (African-American), one Co-

26 Manager (Asian-American), two Assistant Managers (one African-American and 

27 one white), and approximately eight Sales Associates (four African-American, three 

28 Latina, and one white). 
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1 72. On or about March 3, 2009, Hawkins saw the "huge issue" email from 

2 Bachman (Exhibit 1). Hawkins was highly offended, but as a single mother she 

3 did not feel she had alternatives but to keep working for WET SEAL. On 

4 information and belief, WET SEAL executives were aware that Bachman's email 

5 had been forwarded to WET SEAL employees, including Hawkins. In March 2009, 

6 the Philadelphia District Manager told Hawkins that WET SEAL management 

7 wanted to get rid of her and that she should "watch her back." 

8 73. After both the Regional and District Managers to whom she reported 

9 left the company, in March 2009, the new District Manager made hiring decisions 

1 0 for the Cherry Hill store, and hired non-minority employees, rejecting without 

11 explanation an African American recommended by Hawkins. This was contrary to 

12 the usual WET SEAL practice, which was for Store Managers to make hiring 

13 decisions for their store. On information and belief, these hiring decisions were 

14 taken over by the new District Manager in order to assure that new hires at the 

15 Cherry Hill store were white. 

16 74. Shortly after the new District Manager assumed her duties, she gave 

17 Hawkins a written discipline for shrink, despite the fact that the store audit upon 

18 which the discipline was based included a period before Hawkins began to work in 

19 her store, and WET SEAL senior management were aware that the sensor tags did 

20 not work with the Cherry Hill equipment. Hawkins protested the discipline to HR 

21 but never received a response. On information and belief, this discipline was 

22 unwarranted, was out of proportion to what was imposed on similarly-situated 

23 white Store Managers, and was a pretext to begin the process of terminating 

24 Hawkins because of her race. 

25 75. By 2010, Hawkins was one of only two African-American Store 

26 Managers in the Philadelphia District; the other was assigned to the Gallery 

27 location Hawkins had previously managed. Hawkins was advised by the 

28 Philadelphia District Manager in February 2010 that she was terminated for having 
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1 low sales and high shrink results. 

2 76. In fact, the Cherry Hill shrink figures had improved since Hawkins 

3 took over as Store Manager and were continuing to improve, at the time of her 

4 termination. Nor had Hawkins been afforded the benefit ofmentoring or 

5 progressive discipline, which, on information and belief, was routinely offered to 

6 similarly-situated white Store Managers. 

7 77. When she had sought transfer to other stores, Hawkins was told that it 

8 was WET SEAL policy that Store Managers in high shrink stores are not eligible 

9 for promotion or transfer; however, in or around November 2009, an Asian-

10 American Co-Manager from the Cherry Hill store was promoted to manage an 

11 Arden B. store. 

12 78. Although as Store Manager Hawkins was charged with hiring 

13 subordinates, at no time during her employment with WET SEAL did Hawkins 

14 receive any training regarding equal opportunity policies or procedures. 

15 79. Hawkins observed that African-American employees were terminated 

16 despite doing a good job and without any explanation. On information and belief, 

17 an African-American employee she supervised, K. Benson, was singled out for 

18 termination by Bachman because of her race, as she was a good worker who was 

19 liked and respected by her colleagues and by the Philadelphia District Manager, 

20 who cried as she terminated Benson. 

21 80. On information and belief, during the last two years of her 

22 employment at WET SEAL Hawkins' performance was as good as or better than 

23 that of white Store Managers. Despite WET SEAL policy that employees receive 

24 regular reviews, Hawkins received no performance reviews during her last two 

25 years at WET SEAL, which made her ineligible to receive any raise. On 

26 information and belief, similarly-situated white employees received performance 

27 reviews and raises during this period. 

28 81. On information and belief, similarly-situated white employees with 
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1 lesser qualifications were promoted to higher paying positions than Hawkins. 

2 82. After her termination, Hawkins sought employment. Despite her 

3 qualifications, she was unable to secure employment until November 2011. On 

4 information and belief, WET SEAL discriminated against and retaliated against 

5 Hawkins because of her race and opposition to discriminatory practices by failing 

6 to provide a fair reference to potential employers. 

7 83. During the pendency of the Cogdell and other similar EEOC charges 

8 of discrimination, Hawkins filed a timely charge of discrimination with the EEOC, 

9 a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 5 and incorporated by reference. The 

10 EEOC subsequently issued a Notice of Right to Sue on this charge, and this First 

11 Amended Complaint was timely filed within 90 days of this Notice. 

12 PLAINTIFF SAINT-HILAIRE 

13 84. PlaintiffMyriam Saint-Hilaire ("Saint-Hilaire") was hired by WET 

14 SEAL in January 2007 as an Assistant Manager at WET SEAL's King of Prussia 

15 store. She had retail loss prevention experience from her prior work at one of WET 

16 SEAL's competitors. 

17 85. Although she understood that she was going to be hired into the Co-

18 Manager position, Saint-Hilaire was given the title of Assistant Manager but 

19 required to perform the duties of a Co-Manager. 

20 86. According to WET SEAL policy, Saint-Hilaire should have received 

21 periodic written performance reviews. Salary increases are provided as a result of 

22 positive reviews. Saint-Hilaire never received a written performance review. 

23 Every time she was due for a review, her Store Manager made an excuse to explain 

24 why Saint-Hilaire would not receive a review. As a result, Saint-Hilaire never 

25 received the pay increases that would have resulted from positive reviews. On 

26 information and belief, similarly-situated white employees received performance 

27 reviews and periodic raises. 

28 87. Saint-Hilaire's performance at WET SEAL should have resulted in 
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1 positive performance reviews. 

2 88. On one occasion in 2007, Saint-Hilaire was written up by her Store 

3 Manager for being late (after working late the night before-hours past her 

4 scheduled shift-because the store was understaffed), but white associates were 

5 frequently late and not written up. 

6 89. In or around December 2007, Thomas, then-President and CEO of 

7 WET SEAL, visited the King of Prussia store. A few weeks after Thomas's visit to 

8 the King of Prussia store, Saint-Hilaire heard from the Philadelphia District 

9 Manager that she had been present with Thomas and three or four other high-level 

10 corporate executives of WET SEAL when Thomas or his assistant said that they 

11 were "not comfortable" with the staff at the King of Prussia store, and that while 

12 the store had been doing well, it would do better if the employees had a "different 

13 look" that would attract more customers. The Philadelphia District Manager was 

14 told to hire an all-new management staff, keeping only the Store Manager (who 

15 was white) and an African-American Assistant Manager with a very light 

16 complexion. The District Manager later told Saint-Hilaire that Thomas and the 

17 other high-level officials wanted her to fire the African-American employees, and 

18 that she was under intense pressure to fire the African-American employees in the 

19 King of Prussia store. 

20 90. Saint-Hilaire was upset by what the Philadelphia District Manager told 

21 her. The Philadelphia District Manager said that she would do her best to keep her, 

22 and that Saint-Hilaire should "stay under the radar" by keeping the store as clean as 

23 possible and not doing anything that would make her a target to be fired. 

24 91. At around the same time, in late 2007 or early 2008, the King of 

25 Prussia store was understaffed. One Associate said that she knew someone with 

26 retail experience who could work in the store. The Store Manager, who was white, 

27 asked, "Is she black?" and when the Associate said yes, the Store Manager said that 

28 she had been told that they could not hire any more African-Americans, because 
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1 there were too many African-Americans and the company "needed diversity." 

2 92. The Store Manager also told Saint Hilaire and other store employees 

3 that they "need to hire more diversity," that they had a lot of African-American 

4 employees, and that they should try to attract the kind of clientele that shopped at 

5 their more upscale competitors, such as Abercrombie & Fitch. 

6 93. In mid-2008, a white, tall, thin, blond Sales Associate named Leslie 

7 was hired to work in the King of Prussia store. The Store Manager hired Leslie 

8 because she thought she could "help them" with the "diversity issue" and because 

9 she fit the "brand image," which was understood to mean white females. On 

10 information and belief, Leslie was also approved for higher pay than the other 

11 Associates. When Leslie later indicated that she might leave WET SEAL, she was 

12 offered a raise because the management wanted to keep her in the store. 

13 94. On information and belief, the Vice President for Store Operations told 

14 the Philadelphia District Manager that they needed to hire "people like Leslie for 

15 the WET SEAL look" to "be profitable in every way." 

16 95. Saint-Hilaire went on maternity leave in late 2008. Several weeks 

17 after she returned from leave, she was fired by the Philadelphia District Manager on 

18 February 13,2009. The District Manager was crying when she fired Saint-Hilaire. 

19 96. The District Manager told Saint-Hilaire that she was being fired 

20 because she was not covering all the areas in the store while training a new 

21 associate, and that she did not greet a manager who came into the store. White 

22 employees were not disciplined for such conduct, and the store was too short-

23 staffed to allow full coverage of the store. On information and belief, these reasons 

24 were a pretext for terminating Saint-Hilaire based on race. 

25 97. On information and belief, the Philadelphia District Manager was 

26 instructed by senior management to fire Saint-Hilaire because she was African-

27 American. 

28 98. On information and belief, during Saint-Hilaire's employment at WET 
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1 SEAL, she was paid less than similarly-situated white employees, and was denied 

2 promotions to better paying positions that less qualified white employees received. 

3 99. On information and belief, all or nearly all of the current employees in 

4 the King of Prussia store are white. 

5 100. On March 9, 2009, Saint-Hilaire filed a race discrimination charge 

6 with the EEOC alleging that her termination was discriminatory, a copy of which is 

7 attached hereto as Exhibit 6 and incorporated by reference. The EEOC 

8 subsequently issued a Notice of Right to Sue on this charge, and this First Amended 

9 Complaint was timely filed within 90 days of this Notice. 

10 101. After her termination, Saint-Hilaire attempted to find employment. 

11 WET SEAL refused to give her a reference or even verify her employment. On 

12 information and belief, this refusal to verify employment or give a reference was in 

13 retaliation to Saint-Hilaire's opposition to WET SEAL's discriminatory practices 

14 and filing of an EEOC charge and was intended to and did interfere with Saint-

15 Hilaire's ability to find subsequent employment. 

16 PLAINTIFF GUIDER 

17 102. Plaintiff Michelle Guider ("Guider") was hired by WET SEAL in or 

18 around September of2009 as a Sales Associate in the Arden B. store in Durham, 

19 North Carolina. Guider had prior management experience. 

20 103. At that time, the Durham store management team was made up of one 

21 Store Manager (white) and two Assistant Managers (one white and one African-

22 American). All but one of the four to seven Sales Associates were African-

23 American. 

24 104. According to WET SEAL policy, Guider should have received 

25 periodic written performance reviews. WET SEAL employees are awarded salary 

26 increases based on positive performance reviews. 

27 105. Guider never received a written performance review. On information 

28 and belief, similarly-situated white employees received performance reviews and 

- 21 -
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO.: SACV 12-01138 AG (ANx) 



Case 8:12-cv-01138-AG-AN   Document 49   Filed 01/09/13   Page 23 of 50   Page ID #:367Cj 

1 periodic raises. 

2 106. Guider orally received positive feedback about her performance from 

3 her Store Manager, including the Store Manager's recommendation that Guider be 

4 promoted to Assistant Manager. Guider's performance at WET SEAL should have 

5 resulted in positive performance reviews. 

6 107. In or around July 2010, the Durham Store Manager promoted Guider 

7 to Assistant Manager. 

8 108. In mid-2010, the Store Manager resigned and a white Assistant 

9 Manager was promoted to Store Manager. 

10 109. On one occasion in 2010, Guider overheard the North Carolina District 

11 Manager, Marleen Coakley, and the new Store Manager discussing store hiring. 

12 One of them stated that the store needed to hire "some white girls, some Hispanic 

13 girls to broaden the horizon." She stated that the store needed to hire more students 

14 from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, a school that is known in the 

15 area to be predominantly white. 

16 110. On another occasion in 2010, the Store Manager told Guider that the 

17 store "needed to hire a more diverse group of girls." At that time, nearly all of the 

18 Sales Associates in the Durham store were African-American. 

19 111. When Coakley visited the Durham store, she did not speak to African-

20 American employees, except to criticize an African-American Sales Associate 

21 about her appearance. The Sales Associate was fired in or around February 2011. 

22 112. On information and belief, Coakley imposed a new rule that Store 

23 Managers were not permitted to hire Sales Associates without Coakley's 

24 participation in a second-round interview. During one such interview at another 

25 Arden B. store in North Carolina, Coakley asked the candidate "So what are you?" 

26 referring to the candidate's ethnicity. 

27 113. In or around February of2011, Coakley visited the Durham store and 

28 told Guider that her performance needed to improve. Although Coakley had visited 
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1 the Durham store on at least two prior occasions, this was the first time Guider 

2 received any feedback from Coakley on Guider's performance at WET SEAL. 

3 114. Coakley told Guider that she wanted to work with her to improve 

4 Guider's performance in the areas of sales and store displays. Coakley stated that 

5 she would visit the store more often to assist Guider in these areas. Guider 

6 responded positively to what she believed to be an opportunity for professional 

7 development, and she expressed a willingness to work on the stated performance 

8 objectives. 

9 115. Later that same week, Coakley informed Guider that she was being 

10 demoted to Sales Associate at a lower rate of pay. 

11 116. On information and belief, Coakley instructed the Store Manager to 

12 reduce Guider's work hours. Guider had previously worked full-time as an 

13 Assistant Manager and before that, three to four days per week as a Sales Associate. 

14 After she was demoted, Guider was scheduled to work only one regular shift and 

15 two "call-in" shifts, which meant she would not work unless another employee was 

16 absent. 

17 117. Guider felt humiliated by having to work alongside employees whom 

18 she had previously supervised. She was unable to support herself without regularly 

19 scheduled shifts. Guider believes that Coakley demoted her and reduced her hours 

20 and pay to force Guider to resign. 

21 118. Guider believed that employment under these conditions had become 

22 intolerable. A reasonable African-American employee in the same circumstances 

23 would have concluded that continued employment would be intolerable. 

24 Accordingly, Guider was constructively discharged. Guider resigned from WET 

25 SEAL in or around February 2011. 

26 119. On information and belief, during Guider's employment at WET 

27 SEAL, she was paid less than similarly-situated white employees. 

28 120. On information and belief, Guider was replaced as Assistant Manager 
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1 by a white employee with less experience who was hired after Guider and whom 

2 Guider had trained. An African-American Sales Associate also expressed interest 

3 in the vacant Assistant Manager position, but she was denied an interview even 

4 though she had a positive performance record and more experience than the white 

5 employee who was ultimately selected. 

6 121. On information and belief, after Guider was forced to resign from 

7 WET SEAL, three additional African-American women who had been Sales 

8 Associates at the Durham store were fired. 

9 122. On information and belief, Coakley instructed the Store Manager to 

10 terminate the employment of one of the African-American Sales Associates for 

11 leaving her cell phone in the break room instead of inside her locker, but white 

12 Sales Associates frequently carried cell phones on the sales floor and were not 

13 disciplined or fired. 

14 123. On information and belief, Coakley also instructed the Store Manager 

15 of the WET SEAL store in Greenbrier, North Carolina to fire or demote black 

16 employees and replace them with white employees. All or nearly all of the current 

17 employees at the Durham store are white. 

18 FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF: DISCRIMINATION IN 

19 VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

20 124. Paragraphs 1-123 are incorporated by reference. This claim is brought 

21 on behalf of Plaintiffs and the class they represent. The foregoing conduct violates 

22 42 U.S.C. § 1981 because such conduct discriminates against the Plaintiffs and 

23 class on the basis of their color and race. 

24 125. As a result of WET SEAL's discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs and the 

25 class they represent have been denied equal pay and have lost compensation and 

26 benefits they would have been entitled to in the absence of discrimination, and have 

27 suffered emotional distress and consequential damages. 

28 126. WET SEAL has performed the acts alleged with malice, fraud, 
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1 oppression, and/or reckless indifference to the protected rights of Plaintiffs and the 

2 class. Plaintiffs and the class are thus entitled to recover punitive damages in an 

3 amount according to proof. 

4 SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: RETALIATION IN 

5 VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

6 127. Paragraphs 1-126 are incorporated by reference. This claim is made 

7 on behalf of Plaintiffs Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire. 

8 128. The foregoing conduct violates 42 U.S.C. § 1981 because such 

9 conduct was in retaliation to the opposition by Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire 

10 of discrimination on the basis of race and color. As a result of WET SEAL's 

11 discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire have lost 

12 compensation and benefits to which they would have been entitled in the absence of 

13 discrimination, and have suffered emotional distress and consequential damages. 

14 129. WET SEAL has performed the acts alleged with malice, fraud, 

15 oppression, and/or reckless indifference to the protected rights of Cogdell, 

16 Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire. Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire are thus entitled 

17 to recover punitive damages in an amount according to proof. 

18 THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF: DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION 

19 OF TITLE VII OF CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

20 130. Paragraphs 1-129 are incorporated by reference. This claim is brought 

21 on behalf of Plaintiffs and the class they represent. The foregoing conduct violates 

22 Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.) because such 

23 conduct discriminates against the Plaintiffs and class on the basis of their color and 

24 race. Plaintiffs and the class have met all statutory prerequisites to suit and have 

25 filed these claims in a timely manner. 

26 131. As a result of WET SEAL's discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs and the 

27 class they represent have been denied back pay and front pay and have lost 

28 compensation and benefits they would have been entitled to in the absence of 
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1 discrimination, and have suffered emotional distress and consequential damages. 

2 132. WET SEAL has performed the acts alleged with malice, fraud, 

3 oppression, and/or reckless indifference to the protected rights of Plaintiffs and the 

4 class. Plaintiffs and the class are thus entitled to recover punitive damages in an 

5 amount according to proof. 

6 FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF 

7 TITLE VII OF CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

8 133. Paragraphs 1-132 are incorporated by reference. This claim is made 

9 on behalf of Plaintiffs Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire. Plaintiffs have met all 

10 statutory prerequisites to suit and have filed these claims in a timely manner. 

11 134. The foregoing conduct violates Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

12 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.) because such conduct was in retaliation to the 

13 opposition by Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire of discrimination on the basis of 

14 race and color. As a result of WET SEAL's discriminatory conduct, Plaintiffs 

15 Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire have lost compensation and benefits to which 

16 they would have been entitled in the absence of discrimination, and have suffered 

17 emotional distress and consequential damages. 

18 135. WET SEAL has performed the acts alleged with malice, fraud, 

19 oppression, and/or reckless indifference to the protected rights of Cogdell, 

20 Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire. Cogdell, Hawkins, and Saint-Hilaire are thus entitled 

21 to recover punitive damages in an amount according to proof. 

22 FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: HOSTILE ENVIRONMENT 

23 IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII OF CIVIL RIGHT ACT OF 1964 

24 136. Paragraphs 1-135 are incorporated by reference. This claim is 

25 brought on behalf of Plaintiff Cogdell. The foregoing conduct violates Title VII of 

26 the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.) because such conduct 

27 created a hostile racial environment and forced the constructive termination of 

28 Plaintiff Cogdell. As a result of WET SEAL's discriminatory conduct, Plaintiff 

- 26-
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT - CASE NO.: SACV 12-01138 AG (ANx) 



Case 8:12-cv-01138-AG-AN   Document 49   Filed 01/09/13   Page 28 of 50   Page ID #:372C) 

1 Cogdell has lost compensation and benefits to which she would have been entitled 

2 in the absence of discrimination, and has suffered emotional distress and 

3 consequential damages. 

4 137. WET SEAL has performed the acts alleged with malice, fraud, 

5 oppression, and/or reckless indifference to the protected rights of Cogdell. Cogdell, 

6 is thus entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount according to proof. 

7 PRA YER FOR RELIEF 

8 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief as follows: 

9 1. An order reinstating Plaintiffs and class members to their rightful 

10 positions; 

11 2. All lost pay and benefits sustained by Plaintiffs and the class as a result 

12 of WET SEAL's conduct according to proof; 

13 

14 

15 

16 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

Compensatory damages for emotional distress; 

Front pay for Plaintiffs and the class; 

Punitive damages for Plaintiffs and the class; 

Costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent 

17 allowable by law; 

18 

19 

7. 

8. 

Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law; and 

Such other and further legal and equitable relief as this Court deems 

20 necessary, just, and proper. 

21 JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

22 Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all other similarly sit6ated, demand a 

23 jury trial in this action for all claims so triab 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: January 9, 2013 By: 
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Eeoc FOIIII & (8101) 

CHARGE OF DI$CRIMINATION 
.~: 1hls rorm Is aIfeatad b)'1/ta Prfvaoy~or 1814. See enoIOlIIId PrlIIBO)'AG1 

8tatemanllll1d oIhar InI'otmatIan before COIIIple\lng lhII form. 

Charge Presented To: o FEPA 

l!J EEOC 

Agency(iN) Charge No(s): 

530-2009..01834 

Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission and EEOC 

NamB (II1dItare Mr., Af&, Mnt.) Homt Phone (Incf. Area Corle) Date of Birth 

Nicole Cogdell - -CIty. Slate 8IId ZIP (;(I(Ie 

Named 18 the Employer, Ylbot~. Employment Agenay, AppreRI/cestIIp Committee, or Stele or LooaI Govemmont AgBnoy That I Believe 
Ofeorlmlnated AgaJn8t Mil or othtn. (If ft'IQI8 than two. list unrJer PARTlOULARS betow.) . 
Name No. Emplo)'el!8. M8IIIII8I'8 PhoRe No. (Inolude Ares Gods) 

WET SEAL 500 or More (610) 768-0331 
~Add""8 Q\y,bleandZIPCodB 

160 North Gulph Road, King Of Prussia. PA 19460 

Name 

OIly. IBIata and ZIP Code 

DISCRIMINATION BASED ON (0IJsc;k spptoptIate bo~(N).J DATE(S) DISCRIMINATION K.-::I2 
Eatllail .:".) IfIIlI'I'If 

[K] JW:I! D COLOR D SEX 0 RelIGION 0 NAYIONAl ORIGIN o RETALIATION D AGE 0 DI$A8lLlTV 0 OTHER (fltJfC/fY below.) 

03 .. 034009 ~3"03·2009 

o OOMYINUlNG~laN 
THII LARS ME (If pspfll'l. netdtlfUttaoh fll/fnllIhaeI(-J': 
I was hIred by Respondent as a Store Manger at Its Springfield, PA location on 11/10/2008. On 1/0212009, I 
was promoted to Store Manager for King of Prussia and I simultaneously ran both sloms for approximately a 
month and a half before solely concentrating on KIng of Prussia. I had no performance deficiencies. On March 
3, 2009, I was given my tennlnation notice (given two weeks) by Christina Sanchez, DIstrict Director. I believe 
the reason for my termination was my race. black. 

I believe that In violation of Title VII of the Civil RIghts Act of 1964, as amended, l have been notIfied of my 
termination on the baals .of my race. black. I believe a class of blacks (Dlstrict-wide and perhaps nationally) 
have been denied hire or tenntnatedbecause of thIs race-based decision. Respondent's Se,nlor Executive 

. Management has Issued a directive to decrease the number of Black employees and hire Caucasians District 
wide. Approximately two weeks ago, I myself was told to discharge Black employees and hire white . 
employees. I was actively trying to nnster my Black employees to another store (Springfield) so not to fire 
them. I transferred Cassie (white) and Kathleen (white) over to King of PrussIa. Christina Sanchez told me to 
set up Interviews solely based on hiring whites (race). 

I want tllis Ohq, tlr .. with both the mace aid the State or Iooal Agenoy. I'MY. I 
will advise the egenolea I' t Change my add"", or phorIe number erid I wiD llCIOPlH'ate 
fully Wllh them In Ihe precessIng of my charge In accotdancewJth 1helr.prooadur8a. 
Jt.::;=~~~~~~~":"r~~~~-:-~~---t I swear or affirm that I have reed the abCrJe charge and that It 16 b'UB lp 

the bast of my knoWledge, InformBlion and belief. .,.. . 

Mar 04, 2009 
Dilto 

$IGNATIJRIi OF CDMPLAINANT . 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE MI! 'I'HIS DATE 
(mlll/th, !lclY. ~f) 
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U S·· 11~ I E I 0 • ". tf/'%. • • 
eEOC FORM 131 (5101) .. . .... V&~ mp oyment pportumty tl0.iiil)mlsslon 

r-------------...::><:;".. PERS8N;<:-FI~L1~N~G-C~H-:-AR:-G::-:E:--~------' 

I Ms. Barbara Amiekiez 
V" P. of Human Resources 
WET SEAL 
26792 Burbank 
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610 

L 

Nicole D. Cogdell 
THIS PERSON (check one or both) 

[iI Claims To Be Aggrieved o Is Filing on Behalf of Other(s) 

.-J EEOC CHARGE NO. 

530·2009·01834 
NOTICE OF CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION 

(See the enclosed for additlonallnfonnation) 

This is notice that a charge of employment discrimination has been filed against your organization under: 

[!I Title VII of the Civil Rights Act D The Americans with Disabilities Act 

D The Age Discrimination in Employment Act D The Equal Pay Act 

The boxes checked below apply to our handling of this charge: 

1. [!J No action Is required by you at this time. 

2. D Please call the EEOC Representative listed below concerning the further handling of this charge. 

·3. D Please provide by a statement of your position on the Issues covered by tills charge, with copies of any 
supporting documentation to the EEOC Representative listed below. Your response will be placed in the file and considered as we investigate 
the charge. A prompt response to this request will make It easier 10 conclude our investigation. 

4. D Please respond fully by to the enclosed request for information and send your response to the EEOC 
Representative listed below. Your response will be placed in the file and considered as we Investigate the charge. A prompt response to this 
request will make It easier to conclude our investigation. 

5.' D EEOC has a Mediation program that gives parties an opportunity 10 resolve the issues of a charge without extensive investigation or 
expenditure of resources. If you would like to participate, please say so on the enclosed form an~ re~p()rJdby 
to 

If you DO NOT wish to try Mediation, you must respond to any request(s) made above by the date(s) specified there. 

For further inquiry on this matter, please use the charge number shown above. Your position statement, your response to our request for information, 
or any Inquiry you may have should be directed to: 

William D. Cook, 
Enforcement Manager 

EEOC Representetive 

Telephone _<:..;.2.;..;;1...;.5Lo) ...;.44..;..0;;... • .;..;;26..;..3..;..4~ 

Enclosure(s): ~ Copy of Charge 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF ALLEGED DISCRIMINATION 

Philadelphia District Office 
801 Market Street 
Suite 1300 
Philadelphia, PA 19107 

[]I RACE D COLOR D SEX D RELIGION D NATIONAL ORIGIN D AGE D DISABILITY D RETALIATION D OTHER 

See enclosed copy of charge of discrimination. 

Date 

March 19, 2009 

Name I Title of Authorized Official 

Marie M. Tomasso, 
District Director 
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85'1212a10 11:B4 6:::.1=:.:-._~ ______ -..:;GAL....;;;;.;;;L;....AG:....HE~R ..... SCH;.;......O_E_'·, __ LD ______ R_A_GE __ El2_'_8_2-, 

AMENDED C8MtGEOF DISCROONAl'lON AGENCV CHARGE NUM8EP. 
Th.i,1bmt is aHeucd by tbc Privacy Act of' 1!I74i See Privacy Act Statmncnt bcfiIre oFEP A - 0 

this fonn. -moe 

NAMED IS mEEMPLOYEK. LA.90RORGANlZAUON. 
GOVER'NMfiNr AGENCY WHO 1)ISCllIMlNAT1l'O . 

NAME: NUMBER OF EMPLOYW.NEMBERS 
TIle Wet lae. ., or more 

S'DlEET ADDR.~SS STA.'rnANDZlPCODE 
IfiG Norah GtdPh Read .rrr .... PA.. .9460 

CAUSE OF DISCRIMJNADON BASED ON (Check apptoprilr.o box(cs» 
III RACE D COLOR Q SEX o!.f.£UGION a NATIONAL ORJOIN 

o .DISABIU1Y IJ RETALtATION D AGE 

THE PARTICULARS ARE: 

DATEl>lSClUMINATION TOOK PLACE 
EARLffiST LATBS't cmmNUINGACTlQN 
VIIS 31J09 

I am a Black female with significant retail marketing ~ence. I was hired by Respondent as a Store Mmager at 
its Springfield. PA location on 11/10lOS. On lf2lO9, I was promoted to Ston: Manager for King ofPmssiaand [ 
simultaneously tan both stores for approximately a month and a balfbefore solely concentmtiJIg on King of Prussia. 
I bad no perfoma.ance deficiencies. 

Feb.1:uary, after visiting the King of Prussia 5tore, Respondent's Senior Executive Mauagement issued a directive 
complaining about the number of Black employees; they said the King ofPmssia stote looked great but I was 
~ng" for the store (1 believe this was a ref"el:ence to my race). Shortly ther.eaiter, I was told to discharge Black 
employees and hire "'bite employees. Instead, I tried to tnmsfer my Black anptoyees to another store (Springfield) 
so as not to fite them. J transfem:d Cassie (white) and Kathleen (white) over 10 King of Prussia. District Djrector 
Cristioa Sanchez told me to set up interviews solely based on hiring whites (race). On March 3, 2009, I was given 
my termination notice (given two weeks) by Cristina Sanchez. I believe she was instru.cted to terminate me be<;ause 
of my "l'8Cie. black, and betause [ was trying to save the jobs ofBJack employees. I filed a charge immediately. 

After I told Wet Seal HR that I bad filed a charge of discrimination, 1hey said they would lCtake cam" of the situation 
and asked me to retum to work at the KiDg of Prussia store. I telumed on March 20, 2009. As soon as I arrived for 
work, I was approached by Black ~ployees who reported they were being terminated based c>.n race. 1 finished out 
my work day and then re&sned because t could not work in an environment where senior management made 
decisions based on race~ and where they had not r.a.ken steps to halt discrimination against these employee$ after they 
prom.i$ed to fIX. the problems. My replacement was white. 1 believe she was less qualified than me. but was paid 
rnore. 

I believe that in violation of TItle vn of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amcDded, and "the p~ I have suffered 
homli1;y, discIimiDation, tennination and constructive d.ischargc on the basis of my race, black. 1 believe a class of 
blacks (District-wide 8.O.d perhaps nationally) hAts been denied hire Ot tenninated because ofmee-based decisions. I 
reqne$ that the EEOC conduct an in\'eStigstion. 0.0. behalf of me and all other similarly-situated employees or 

SlONATUIl6 OFCOMPLA~A!IT 

stmSCRll:lmMND SWOR~TO UEFOREME M'3 
t)A.'I1i 

II\OI!tII 
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U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION 
Philadelphia District Office 

CHARGE NUMBER: 530-2009-01834 

vs. 

Wet Seal, Inc. 
26972 Burbank Drive 
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610 

DETERMINATION 

80 I Market Street, Suite 1300 
Philadelphia, PA 19107-3127 

Intake Information Group: (800) 669-4000 
Intake Information Group TTY: (800) 669-6820 

Philadelphia Status Line: (866) 408-8075 
Philadelphia Direct Dial: (215) 440-2602 

TTY (215) 440-26\0 
FAX (2\5) 440-2632, 2848 & 2604 

/' "\1 "\;;-\ '. \'-£)\.1 .. " ' 

Under the authority vested in me by the Commission, I issue the following determination as to 
the merits of the above-cited charge. All requirements for coverage have been met under Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (Title VII). 

Charging Party alleges that because of her race (Black) she was subjected to harassment and a 
hostile work environment. Charging Party alleges that because of the harassment, she 
constructively discharged her employment. Charging Party further alleges that Respondent 
replaced her with a white female, who was less qualified and paid a higher salary. 

Charging Party was re-hired with Respondent on November 10, 2008 as a Store Manager in its 
Springfield, PA store. In February 2009, Respondent's Regional Director, officially assigned her 
to the position of Store Manager in the King of Prussia location. Charging Party alleged that on 
March 3, 2009, she saw an email in which Barbara Bachman, former Sr. Vice President of 
Operations, drafted summarizing the results of her store visits. In Bachman's memo she 
referenced the King of Prussia store as having too many African Americans, which was 
problematic, and concluded that Charging Party was not "right" for the store. On March 4,2009, 
Charging Party called Barbara Arnekl~v, former Vice President of Human Resources, to 
complain about Ms. Bachman's comments and expressed concern that Respondent was 
considering Charging Party's termination. Because of these events, Charging Party went on 
medical leave. Ms. Arneklev assured Charging Party her job was safe and instructed her to return 
to her assigned store at the completion of her medical leave. 

Charging Party returned to work on March 20, 2009. Upon her return, African American 
employees approached her to report they were being terminated because of race. On the same 
day, Charging Party resigned in protest of the terminations and having to address the numerous 
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discrimination concerns of her employees. She alleges that her replacement was white, with less 
experience and paid a higher salary. 

Respondent denies the charges and states that Cogdell resigned her position and, thus, there has 
been no adverse employment action. Respondent states it originally hired Charging Party in 
September 2002 and she resigned in January 2003 for unknown reasons. It further contends that 
Charging Party's race was not an issue since she was re-hired in November 2008. Respondent 
contends that on January 2, 2009, the Regional Director, Meghan Davey, transferred Charging 
Party to King of Prussia, a higher volume store with underperforming sales, without 
Respondent's approval. With respect to the Bachman e-mail, Respondent failed to address the 
issue in its position statement. However, during the August 10, 2010 deposition, Bachman 
averred that she wrote the memo to stress the importance of having diversity in all stores. 

With respect to the wage issue, Respondent stated it hired Nicole Moser on March 23, 2009 to 
replace Charging Party. Respondent contends that it paid Moser a higher salary because of her 
experience as a District Manager and that she held a store manager position earning a salary of 
$54,800 in a different retail environment that was significantly larger than Wet Seal. Therefore, 
she was offered ajob with Respondent at a salary of$48,999.12. 

An analysis of documental and testimonial evidenc~ reveal that corporate managers have openly 
stated they wanted employees who had "the Armani look, were white, had blue-eyes, thin, and 
blond in order to be profitable." A review of the e-mail Ms. Bachman distributed after 
conducting store visits in the Maryland and Philadelphia markets, stated the following: Global 
Issues: "Stores Teams- need diversity African Americans dominate - huge issue." Bachman 
proceeded to give her observations of individual stores. Under [Wet Seal] King of Prussia, 
Bachman wrote, "Store Manager is not right for this store-she has been in this store for a 
month!" 

A review of Charging Party's employment record during her five-month employment shows she 
demonstrated outstanding performance and her store sales and shrinkage records exceeded 
standards. Charging Party's Regional Director and District Manager described her as having 
great energy, strong ability to hold all members of management accountable around .payroll, 
shipment processing and placement, backroom and sales floor standards. Further records show 
that under Charging Party's leadership, the King of Prussia store received high ratings and 
positive feedback from the Field Visual Manager and Loss Prevention Manager. Under Chargi~g 
Party's supervision, the records show the King of Prussia store ranked Number 8 in the company. 

A review of Ms. Bachman's personnel file revealed that in previous years, Respondent warned 
her about making discriminatory remarks about males that ultimately resulted in a gender 
discrimination complaint. However, Respondent retained Ms. Bachman in high-level 
management positions with supervisory authority. With respect to the memo that generated the 
instant charge, Ms. Bachman only received a written warning but no further action was imposed 
to prevent such conduct from arising in the future. Ms. Bachman voluntarily resigned in Year 
2011. 



Case 8:12-cv-01138-AG-AN   Document 49   Filed 01/09/13   Page 43 of 50   Page ID #:387

With respect to Charging Party's constructive discharge claim, The Supreme Court held, to 
establish "constructive discharge'" in a hostile environment claim the [Charging Party] must 
prove that she was the victim of a hostile work environment and that "the abusive working 
environment became so intolerable that her resignation qualified as a fitting response. II 

In the instant charge, the evidence demonstrates that Charging Party was under insurmountable 
pressure following the corporate visit in February 2009. The material facts of the case reveals, 
Barbara Harris, Vice President of Operations, instructed Sanchez to demote Charging Party and 
transfer her back to the Springfield location, which is a lower volume store. Respondent failed to 
proffer a legitimate business reason to justify transferring Charging Party to a lower volume store 
but for the fact, she was an African American. 

Witness interviews corroborate Charging Party's claims that she was upset at the prospect of 
Respondent terminating African American employees in King of Prussia based on Bachman's 
assessment that African American dominance in the sales force was a "huge issue". Charging 
Party faced further humiliation to know corporate officials considered her as not being "right" 
for King of Prussia despite her glowing performance as its store manager. Witness interviews 
revealed that Bachman never expressed diversity concerns in stores with a predominantly White 
sales force but encouraged it because the sales force mirrored the community. 

Charging Party complained to Human Resources about the discriminatory e-mail and comments 
but no corrective action was taken. Thus, Charging Party went on a medical stress leave due to 
the stressful working conditions. Upon her return to work, African, American employees 
bombarded Charging Party with concerns of ongoing race discrimination and possible 
terminations over which she had no control. Respondent's faihITe to take effective remedial and 
con'ectiye action to address the egregious managerial conduct of Bachman and other corporate 
officials, created a stressful and hostile working environment for Charging Party coupled with 
the fact, she was employed with a company where managers were instructed to make 
employment decisions based on race. 

Based on this analysis I have determined that the evidence obtained during the investigation 
establishes a violation of Title VII in that Charging Party was subjected to a hostile work 
environment and the conditions were so intolerable, her only recourse was to resign. No finding 
is made with respect to any remaining issues. 

Upon finding that there is reason to believe that a violation has occurred, the Commission 
attempts to eliminate the alleged unlawful practices by informal methods of conciliation. 
Therefore, the Commission now invites the. parties to join with it in reaching a just resolution of 
this matter. In this regard, conciliation of this matter has now begun. Please be advised that upon 
receipt of this finding, any reasonable offer to resolve this matter will be considered. The 
Commission may seek an amount inclusive of the applicable cap to Respondent's organization 
for compensatory and punitive damages and actual monetary losses incurred by the Charging 
Party. 

A Conciliation Agreement will be mailed with a demand to include actual and compensatory 
and/or punitive damages, if any; and, if appropriate attorney fees and costs which have accrued 
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to date. Again, the Commission's is postured to consider any reasonable offer during this period. 
If an offer has not been previously submitted, Respondent is requested to accept, reject, or 
submit a counteroffer within 15 days of its receipt of the conciliation proposal, which will be 
forthcoming shortly separately. The confidentiality provisions of the statute and Commission's 
Regulations apply to information obtained during conciliation. 

If the Respondent declines to discuss settlement or when, for any other reason, a settlement 
acceptable to the office Director is not obtained, the Director will inform the parties and advise 
them of the court enforcement alternatives available to aggrieved persons and the Commission. 

Date 

Cc: Nancy DeMis, Esquire 
Counsel for Charging Party 

Nancy Abell, Esquire 
Counsel for Respondent 

On Behalf of the Commission: 

Spencer H. Lewis 
District Director 
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EXHIBIT 5 
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CHARGE OF DISCRIMINA TTON AGENCY CHARGE NUMBER 
This form is affected by the Privacy Act of 1974; Sec Privacy Act StatE:ment before SEEOC S$fJ cJ-1f.!; ~p~ lSi c r · ... oleting this fonn. -

Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission lind EEOC 

NAMB (Indicate Mr .• Ms., MnJ Kal Hawkins I HOMe TELEPt-rONE (Include Area cod!l)_-_I" AlJl.J~;'i) ClTY. STATE AND ZIP CODE J DATE OF BIRT~-l 
.' 

" 

NAMED'S THE EMPloYER, LABOR ORGANIZATION. EMPLOYMENT AGENCY AP~RENTICESJ:lIP COMMI'TTEE, STATE OR LOCAL' 
GOV.ERNMENT AGElI-ICY WHO DlSCRJMI'NATED AGAINST M~ (if more than one list below.) 

NAME: ' I NUMBER OF EMnOYEES, MEMBERS J TE.T •• F.WHONE NUMBER (.Include Area. Code) 
Tbe Wet SeliA, Inc. 500 or more 949-699·3900 

STREET ADDRESS CITY. STATE AN.D ZIP CODE COUNTY 
Store: Cherry Hill Mall, Haddon.field Road. at Kaighns Avenue, ClJerry Hill NJ 08002 CAmden. NJ 
HQ: 26972 Burbank Foothill Ranch, California 92610. Ornnge County, CA. 

CAUSE OF DISCRJMINATION BASED ON (Check aPPl'(lpriatc box(es)) DATE DISCR.IMINATION TOOK PLACE 
BRACE 1!!ICOLOR o SEX ClRELlGION Cl NATIONAL ORIGIN 5ARL TEST LATEST..J CONTlJllUING ACTION 

[J DISABILITY Ii!I RETALIATION cAGE 

THJ: PARTICULARS ARE: 
I believe I have been discriminated against on account of my race (African-American) and color (hlack). This discrimination is part of 11 pattern or 

practice and policy ofdiscriminatiol'lllgnin:lt AfiiC£ln-American anel black employees and form.er employees of Wet Seal £IS follows: . . 
I began working for WET SEAL in around .Tuly Z002 at the Plymouth Meeting Pennsylvania stOTt. I was promoted to Store Maneger (SM) ""'thm 

several months. In Z003 and 2004, I effectively managed WET SEAL storeS in California. I returned to the Philadclphin region in :2004, where J had been 
promised a "high profile" store such as King of Prussia (KO?). Instead, I was assigned to the Gallery Store III Market East in Philadelphia, a lower volume 
store with a larger percentage of minority shopper:s.. I repeatedly requested tronsfer to KOP or another hotter-ranked store. African American mapagetpE:llt 
employecs were almost e"clusively limited to positions in lower volume. lower profile store~ with higher minority customers. and were much leS$ likely to 
be placed in better mans or those with largely white customer bases. 

In 2008. I was assigned 10 manage the Cherry Hill New Jersey store. which has tllal'ger pcrcen(.f~8e ofminolity shoppcrs thlUl KOt>. The Cherry Hill 
store was visited by CEO Ed Thol11lls (white), and VPs Barbara H"llrris (white) nnd Barbara Bachman(whitc) itt or around late Z008. Around PeblMal'cb. 
2009. philadelphia District Maneger ("DM") Cristina SRneho?,; told mE: that I WIlS required k,. "diversify" my team by hiring more white employeEs within 
thirty days, or I would be terminated. At around the samc time. Sanchez forwarded an cmail from Baehrnlll'l saying African American dominance 01'1 store . s was Ii "huge issue." [ did not follow the oroer to "diversify" the store team, which would have meant tenninatlng employee~ baslld on mce . 

• no time during my E:mploymeot with WET SEAL did I receive any training regarding eq\lil\ opportunity policics or procedures. Although Afriean-
American employees were hired tor SEasonal nnd other wor~. they were subjected to discipline and ttnnination at a higher rate than other employees. Some 
African·American employees were terminated because of their race. For example, Sanchez was visibly upsel when she terminated K. Benson (African 
American). Sanchez said she was orderecl to lenninate Benson by VP Barbara Bachman (white). bcca.\lse Bachman (1;(1 not Iikc Ben!lon'~ "look." Benson 
was a good worker who did [lot disserve to be terminated. 

In September 2009 a nC"W DM took over the Philadelphia di~trict, Monyn Vuletic (white). Contrary to usual Wet Seal practice, VUletie madc hjri~g 
decisions fbr the Ch~ny Hill store. She rejected without explanation 1\ qualitled African-American cnn<lk1.ate [rccommended and selected a less qUllhfied 
white applicant for Assistant Manager under me without oven consulting me. Shortly after Vuletic became OM, she gave me a written discipline for 
shrink, even though the audit included a pcriod before T begantQ work in her store, and Wet Seal SEnsor tPgs did not work in the Cherry Hill mall . .t 
protest.ed the discipline to HR but never got a response. During my las1 two year~ of employment at WET SEAL [received no review and no raise. T 
believe white Store Managers received performance reviews Ilnd raises during this pcriod. In 20 10, I w~s one of only two African-Alllerican Store. 
Managers in the J.>hiladelphia District; the other black store manager WIIS in the "urban" Gp.1lery location I had had previou!lly managed. I was tcrmmated 
in, February 2010 by OM Vuletic, without fullowing Wet ~eal's progressive discipline policy, She said it WQ.~ because ofhi~h shrink. My tennina.1:ion was 
because of my raoe, find because' did oot carry out instructions to chnnse thll: racial makeup of my store team. The Cherry Hill shrink figllre8 had . 
improved since J took over as Store Manager nlld were continuing to improve. Also. prior to my terminat\on, on Asian Co-Manager from the ChCl'lY HII~ 
store was promoted to m&no.ge an Arden B. store. WET SBA L policy was that managers in high shrink stores were not eligible for promotion or transfer, 
:>0 eitber the ;;tm;dards were different for non-Ati·ielln American managers. or the Cherry Hill store wos not really experiencing high shrink. 

After my t.ermination, I could not find ajob until November 20 I J. J believe that Wet Senl failed to provide a fair reference to potential employers, in 
retaliation f.or my objecting to discrimination. 

I am part of the samc clEl8s. and subject to the sarnO, ongoing pattcrn or praclicE and policy of discrimination and retaliation, as alleged in numerous 
peoding EEOC ch[lfges of discrimination against Wet Senl. inch)cling thc charges ofNieole Cogdell (530·:2009·01834). M)lriam Sainthilaire (530-2009-
01836) and Katie Benson (530-2009-1933). all filed in March. 2009. The filing of thesl; olos~ charges tolled the limitation~ period for the tiling ofsimilaT 
Ch!l.Tll:es. Accordingly, my cbarge Is timely. I make this chat~e on my own behalf and of behalf of all others similarly situated. 

IBI I WDnt this chsrge filed with both the eEOC and the State or local Agency. '1 wilIllcl\'isc the ngencic$ ifl 
NOTARY· (when neccssRty f\:lr Stole and Locol 

change my IIcldte.~g or telephone number ~Ild cooperDte flllly Wilh 11,em in the proecs$ing afmy charge in 
Requirement!;) 

nccOl'<lanee with their "procedurc~. I ~woar or affirm thm T have read tile l'bovc charge ariel thaI it 
is tnlC 10 the bC>lt of my knowledge, fnformllticm 9I1d belfef. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. SIGNATURE 01' COMl'tAINANT 

Sl.Ifl$CRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS 

Dato: JbLl J \~ Charging Party (.,lgnamre) lC-t,.=tl> 1 ~ ~ DATE 
(day, month and l'e;,r) 

\ I 
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EXHIBIT 6 
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Name Qntllcafs 1k, *' IIt&J 

MYl1am Sainthnatre 

("~. I 

Charge ~jli;'!.1 To: 
FePA 

eeoo 

Ag,enoyf\es) Charge No(s): 

630.2009.01836 

and eeoc 

CII¥. Slate and liP Code 

NamedJathe or Slate or Local GDvemmentAgency That I Balleve 

Name ltv. t.tambe", P1JQ1\8 No. AI81I GDD'eJ 

WET SEAL 500 or More (610) 768-0331 
~~~ ~~n~~ 

160 North Gulph Road, King Of PI'lIMIa, PA 19460 

DISCRIMINATION IIA6IO 1'001( PLACE • 
EsrIiI:&t ISIaSI rn RACE 0 COLOR 0 SEX D RELIGION 0 NATlONAI.OR1GIN o RETALIATION D AGE 0 DtSABILI1Y. 0 OlHER~b81DW.) 

R't_~ ~ O~ .. 13 .. 2009 

~:i~ 
CONTINUING ACllON 

. . ...... .. ' .... . . ". dlICIIJ 
I was hired by Respondent 88 an Asst. Store Manager at Its KfTIO OfPiUSSfaloCiti6rrlh0112007. In 2007, I was 
falsely written up by Menssa Khan, Aeat store Mgr., (niCG=White) for not attending the meeting: In February of 
2009. I was written up by Christina Sanchez (HIspanic), DistricI: Manager, for not -rtgure 8-1ng" loss prevention 
Issues. It was a rule we never usedlpract{ced at KIng of Prussia. On February 13, 2009, I was fired by 
Christina for not attending the front whDe I was doing fitting room, shipment and ugo..backD with the new 
a~clate. Chrlatiria tokl me iii manager came In the store ant;l was not greetet;l and also my pay raise was an 
Issue. I believe the reason for my termination was my race, black. '. 

I believe that In'vlolation of Title val of the CMI Rights Aot of 1964, as amended, I havel'~n terminated on the 
basis of my race, black. I believe a class of blacks (DIstrict.-wide and nationally) have Deen denied hire or 
terminated because of their 1'8Oe,. blaek. Barbie (r.ac:e--white), President's Edward JohnsOJ1's Asst., told Kim . 
DeFelice (store mgf. ra~ that th~ need tcWil8 more people who look like Leslie (white. tall blOnde) and 
"maybe we will be profitable. ' ~lfi1':~r ___ ck) applied and Melissa said we Gould not hire her 
because she was black and we were riot aHowec:I to hire blacks. Another associate referred a friend and 
Melissa told her that she could not hire any more ~Iack Melissa·told me several ocoaslons) that we 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~"""':"'" __ ~ __ -I I swear OI'aftkm that I havereadtha abowcM'9Band that his lruato 
the best of my Ic.nOWledgs,lnftJrmaUon and beUer. 

Mar04,2009 
Dp 

SIGNATURE OF COMPlAINANT 

SUPSCRIBEDAND SWORN TO PEFORS ME THIS DJ\"I'S 
(lIIOIHh, I'IIY, ,Veal) 
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EEOC FORM 131 (6/01) U.S. 

,- M~. Barbara Amekfez 
V. ·P. of Human Resources 
WET SEAL 
26972 Burbank 
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610 

L 

\ 

Employment Opportunity ission 

Mu,rIAIIn Sainthilalre 
THIS PERSON (check one or both) 
[!] Claims To Be Aggrieved 

D Is Filing on Behalf of Olher(s) 

.J EEOC CHARGE NO. 
530·2009"()1836 

NOTICE OF CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION 
(See the enclosed for additional Information) 

This Is notice that a charge of employment discrimination has been flied against your organization under: 

00 Title VII of the Civil Rights Ad. D The Americans with DlsablllUes Act 

o The Age DIscrimination In Employment Ad. D The Equal Pay Act 

The boxes checked below apply to our handling of this charge: 

1. [!J No action Is required by you, at this time. 

2. D Please call the EEOC Representative listed below concerning the further handling of this charge • 

') 
.,~, , 

. 3. 0 Please provide by . a statement of your position on the Issues covered by this charge. with copies of any 
supporting documentation to the EEOC Representative listed below. Your response will be placed In the file and considered as we Investigate 
the charge. A prompt response to this request will make It easier to conclude our Investigation. 

4. D Please respond fully by to the enclosed request for Infonnatlon and send your response to the EEOC 
Representative listed below. Your response will be placed In the file and considered as we Investigate the charge. A prompt response to this 
request will make It easier to conclude our Investigation. 

5. 0 EEOC has a Mediation program that gives parties an opportunity to resolve the Issues of a charge without extensive InvesUgation or 
expenditure of resources. If you would like to participate. please say so on theenciosed,form.andrespond.by 
to 

If you ~ wish to try Mediation. you must respond to any request(s) made above by the date(s) specified there. 

For further inquiry on this maHer, please use the charge number shown above. Your position statement, your response to our request for Infonnatlon, 
or any Inquiry you may have should be dlred.ed to: 

William D. Cook. 
Enforcement Manager 

EEOC Representallve 

Telephone ___ < ... 2_15 .... >_44_0_ .. _2_634 __ 

Enclosure(s): I:8J Copy of Charge 

Philadelphia District Office 
801 Market Street 
Suite 1300 
Philadelphia, PA 19107 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF ALLEGED DISCRIMINATION 

1]1 RACE 0 COLOR D SEX D RELIGION o NATIONAL ORIGIN 0 AGE D DISABILITY D RETALIATION D OTHER 

See enclosed copy of charge of discrimination. 

Date 

March 19, 2009 

Name I TiUe of Authorized Official 

Marie M. Tomasso, 
District Director 

Signature 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

2 I, Nate Jenkins, declare: 

3 My business address is 476 9th Street, Oakland, California, 94607. I am over 

4 the age of 18 years and not a party to the above-entitled action. 

5 On January 9,2013, I served: 

6 FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

7 on the persons listed below bye-mail, addressed as follows: 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 
21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
28 

NANCY L. ABELL 
nancyabell@paulhastings.com 
HOLL Y R. LAKE 
holly lake@paulhastings.com 
LISAM. PAEZ 
lisapaez@paulhastings.com 
PAUL HASTINGS LLP 
515 South Flower Street, Twenty-Fifth Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90071-2228 

JAMES P. CARTER 
jamescarter@paulhastings.com 
PAUL HASTINGS LLP 
695 Town Center Drive, Seventeenth Floor 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on January 9,2013 at Oakland, California 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
CASE NO.: SACV 12-01138 AG (ANX) 


